
 

 

Please ask for Democratic Services: Telephone 01775 764626  

e-mail: demservices@sholland.gov.uk 

 

REVISED 
AGENDA 
 
 

Committee - CABINET 
 
Date & Time - Tuesday, 16 June 2020 at 10.00 am 
 

Venue - This will be a meeting held in line with The 
Local Authorities & Police & Crime Panels 
(Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local Authority & 
Police & Crime Panel Meetings) (England & 
Wales) Regulations 2020 

 

  The meeting will be held virtually via Zoom and 
streamed live, via the following link: 

 
  www.facebook.com/SouthHollandDCofficial/ 

Membership of the Cabinet: 
 
Councillors: The Lord Porter of Spalding CBE (Leader), C N Worth (Deputy Leader), 
G J Taylor (Deputy Leader), T A Carter, A Casson, P E Coupland, R Gambba-Jones and 
C J Lawton 
 
No substitutions permitted. Revised quorum 3. 
 

Note:  Cabinet reports may be referred to Council or Scrutiny Panels.  They 
should therefore be kept for future reference during the current 
committee cycle.   

 

 Persons attending the meeting are 
requested to turn mobile telephones to 

silent mode 

Democratic Services 
Council Offices, Priory Road 
Spalding, Lincs PE11 2XE 
Date:   12 June 2020 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

http://www.facebook.com/SouthHollandDCofficial/


 

 

A G E N D A 
 
1.  Apologies for absence.  

 
 

2.  Minutes -  
To sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet 
held on 17 March 2020 (copy enclosed).   
 

(Pages 
5 - 10) 

3.  Declarations of Interest. -  
(Where a Councillor has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest the Councillor 
must declare the interest and leave the meeting without participating in 
any discussion or making a statement on the item, except where a 
Councillor is permitted to remain as a result of a grant of dispensation.) 
 

 

4.  Questions raised by the public under the Council's Constitution 
(Standing Orders).  
 

 

5.  To consider any matters which have been subject to call-in.  
 

 

6.  To consider matters arising from the Policy Development and 
Performance Monitoring Panels in accordance with the Overview and 
Scrutiny Procedure or the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure 
Rules.  
 

 

7.  COVID-19 Briefing -  
To set out a summary of the Council’s response to the Covid-19 
pandemic (report of the Leader of the Council enclosed). 
 

(Pages 
11 - 26) 

8.  Financial Implications of Covid-19 -  
To update on the potential financial implications resulting from the 
Covid-19 pandemic (report of the Portfolio Holder for Finance enclosed). 
 

(Pages 
27 - 32) 

9.  Re-opening of South Holland's markets, and Spalding market stall 
provision -  
To consider the options for re-opening the markets in South Holland and 
market stall provision at Spalding market (report of the Executive 
Director Commercialisation enclosed). 
 
(Please note that Appendix B to this report is not for publication by virtue 
of Paragraphs 1 (Information relating to any individual) and 3 
(Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular 
person (including the authority holding that information)) in Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972, and is therefore 
attached to this agenda as item 12). 
 

(Pages 
33 - 46) 

10.  Any other items which the Leader decides are urgent. -  
 
Note:  (i) No other business is permitted unless by reason of 

special circumstances, which shall be specified in the 
Minutes, the Leader is of the opinion that the item(s) 
should be considered as a matter of urgency.   

 

 

Page 2



 

 

(ii) Any urgent item of business that is a key decision must 
be dealt with in accordance with the Constitution’s 
Access to Information Procedure Rules. 

 
11.  To consider resolving that, under section 100A (4) of the Local 

Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting for the 
following item of business on the grounds that it involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraphs 1 and 3 of 
part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.  
 

 

12.  Re-opening of South Holland's markets, and Spalding market stall 
provision -  
To consider exempt Appendix B to the report at agenda item 9 
(Appendix B enclosed). 

(Pages 
47 - 52) 

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 - 
 

 

Minutes of a meeting of the CABINET held in the Council Chamber, Council Offices, 
Priory Road, Spalding, on Tuesday, 17 March 2020 at 10.00 am. 
 

 PRESENT  

  
G A Porter (Leader) 
C N Worth (Deputy Leader) 

 
T A Carter 
 

A Casson 
P E Coupland 
 

R Gambba-Jones 
C J Lawton 
 

  

Cabinet Support Members: Councillor H Drury, Councillor R Grocock and Councillor 
J D McLean 
 
The Chief Executive, the Executive Director Commercialisation, the Executive 
Manager Governance, the Deputy Head of Financial Services and the Democratic 
Services Team Leader. 
 
Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors G J Taylor 
(Deputy Leader) J Astill (Cabinet Support Member), E J Sneath (Chairman of 
Governance and Audit Committee) and A R Woolf (Chairman of Policy Development 
Panel), together with South Holland Citizens Advice Bureau  
 
In Attendance:  Councillor B Alcock (Chairman, Performance Monitoring Panel). 
 
 

 
 Action By 

86. MINUTES   

  

 The minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 18 February 2020 
were signed by the Leader as a correct record. 

 

   

87. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST.   

  

 There were none.  

   

88. QUESTIONS RAISED BY THE PUBLIC UNDER THE   
COUNCIL'S CONSTITUTION (STANDING ORDERS).  

 

  

 There were none.  

   

89. TO CONSIDER ANY MATTERS WHICH HAVE BEEN SUBJECT 
TO CALL-IN.  

 

  

 There were none.  

   

90. TO CONSIDER MATTERS ARISING FROM THE POLICY 
DEVELOPMENT AND PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANELS  

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2.



- 2 - 
 
CABINET - 17 March 2020 

 

 

 

  

 There were none.  

   

91. Q3 2019-20 PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW REPORT   

  

 Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for 
Governance and Customer to provide an update on how the 
Council performed for the period 1st October 2019 – 31st 
December 2019. 
 
In response to Members’ concerns regarding long term sickness, 
the Portfolio Holder for Governance and Customer confirmed that 
figures reflected seasonal trends with recent figures indicating an 
improvement.   
 
The Chief Executive commented on long term sickness, and 
reported that this was being monitored, support was being given 
to bring staff back to work and that more accurate figures defining 
the breakdown between long and short term sickness should be 
available shortly. 
   
DECISION: 
 
That the content of the report be noted.  
 
(Other options considered: 

 To do nothing. 
Reasons for decision: 

 To ensure that the Council’s performance is properly 
scrutinised.) 

 

   

92. Q3 FINANCE REPORT 2019/20   

  

 Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for 
Finance and Executive Director Commercialisation (S151) to 
provide information on the Quarter 3 (to 31 December 2019) 
financial position of the Council. 
 
Members questioned a discrepancy between the figure in Table 8 
Purchase of Units Ashwood Homes (£34k) and the Notes to 
Table 8 (item 5) Purchase of Units Ashwood Homes (£17k).  The 
Executive Director Commercialisation (S151) advised that the 
figures would be checked and updated appropriately. 
 
DECISION: 
 
a) That the report and Appendix A be noted. 
 
b) That the estimated position with regard to the approved 

 

Page 6



- 3 - 
 
CABINET - 17 March 2020 

 

 

 

contributions to and use of Reserves be noted. 
 

RECOMMENDED TO COUNCIL: 
 
c) That the General Fund and Housing Revenue Account Capital 

programme be approved as set out in table 5 and 7 of 
Appendix A. 

 
d) That the Planning Fee income shortfall and additional 

Homelessness costs of £600k be funded from the Council Tax 
Reserve. 

 
(Other options considered: 

 To do nothing. 
Reasons for decision: 

 To provide timely information to Members on the overall 
financial position of the Council.) 

   

93. BUSINESS RATES - CHANGES TO RATE RELIEFS AND 
DISCOUNTS FOR 2020/21  

 

  

 Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for 
Finance and the Executive Director Commercialisation (S151) to 
seek Cabinet approval for administration of the changes to 
Business Rates relief and discounts for 2020/21. 
 
The Portfolio Holder for Finance provided the following Briefing 
and Aid Memoir in addition to the report: 
 
Briefing and Aid Memoir – Cabinet 17 March 2019  

Report: Business Rates – Changes to Rate Reliefs and 

Discounts for 2020/21 

This report seeks Cabinet approval for the administration of 

changes to Business Rates reliefs and discounts for 2020/21 

announced in the Written Ministerial Statement on 27th January 

2020, as set out in section 1.2 of this report. 

However recent events have now overtaken this report.   

In response to COVID-19, at Budget 2020, the Government 

announced it would provide additional business rate support to 

some small businesses.  The Chancellor announced as a 

temporary measure for 2020/21 that he would: - 

 Increase the level of the retail discount to 100 per cent for 

eligible retail businesses occupying a property with a 

rateable value of less than £51,000; 

 Expand the retail discount to include hospitality and leisure 

 

Page 7



- 4 - 
 
CABINET - 17 March 2020 

 

 

 

properties, with a rateable value of less than £51,000 (such 

as museums, theatres, gyms and hotels); 

 Increase the level of the pubs discount up to £5,000 for 

pubs with a rateable value of less that £100,000. 

The government is clear that it expects local authorities to use 

their discretionary relief powers to grant these discounts in line 

with the relevant eligibility criteria.  No new legislation is required, 

and authorities will be compensated for the cost of granting the 

discount.  State aid rules will apply to these discounts in the 

normal way. 

The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 

(MHCLG) will shortly publish updated guidance for local 

authorities reflecting the changes to retail discount as well as 

refreshed guidance on the pubs discount. 

- In addition to these measures, the government has 

announced small business grant funding of £3,000 for 

small businesses already benefiting from paying little or no 

business rates due to eligibility for Small Business Rate 

Relief (SBRR) or Rural Rate Relief.  This will help those 

businesses meet ongoing business costs.  The 

Government will publish guidance to help local authorities 

implement the grant. 

As such, in addition to the two recommendations in this report, an 

additional recommendation is made to Cabinet today to: -  

‘Approve the implementation of the additional business rates 

support as a temporary measure for 2020/21 as announced in 

the 2020 budget in response to COVID-19’.   

This will enable the prompt administration of the additional 
support to businesses, in line with the latest government 
guidance. 
 
Members were advised by the Portfolio Holder Finance that 
communications would be issued in due course advising business 
owners how to apply for support and which category they fall into.   
 
The Chief Executive confirmed that the Council was awaiting 
further information and guidance and that the Inward Investment 
Manager was working proactively with businesses. 
 
DECISION: 
 
a) That Cabinet approve the implementation of the changes to 

Rate reliefs and discounts as set out in the report 
 

Page 8



- 5 - 
 
CABINET - 17 March 2020 

 

 

 

b) That Cabinet approve updating the Discretionary Rate Relief 
Policy to reflect the changes in the latest government guidance 
and that the S151 Officer will approve the final wording in 
consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Finance 

 
c) That Cabinet approve the implementation of the additional 

business rates support as a temporary measure for 2020/21 as 
announced in the 2020 budget in response to COVID-19 

 
(Other options considered: 

 There were no alternative options for consideration. 
Reasons for decision: 

 Administration , in line with Government expectation on 
local authorities, would ensure qualifying businesses in 
South Holland were supported at the start of the new 
financial year, with the additional reliefs and discounts.) 

   

94. DEBT WRITE OFF   

  

 Consideration was given to the joint report of the Portfolio Holder 
for Finance and Executive Director Commercialisation (S151) 
which sought approval for the write-off of uncollectable debts.  
 
Members noted that the report contained a breakdown of the 
individual debts within Appendices A – D, and the Operational 
Debt Write Off Policy, which were not for publication by virtue of 
Paragraphs 1 (Information relating to any individual), 2 
(Information which is likely to reveal the identity of any individual) 
and 3 (Information relating to the financial or business affairs of 
any particular person (including the authority holding that 
information). 
 
Members agreed that only the principles of the report would be 
discussed and there was therefore no need for the meeting to go 
into private session. 
 
DECISION: 
 
That the following debts be written off: 
 
Council Tax  £19,590.20 
Business Rates  £13,255.63 
Housing Benefit Overpayments  £11,133.27 
Sundry Debt  £  5,945.30 
 
Total:  £49,924.40 
 
(Other options considered: 

 Do nothing; or 

 

Page 9



- 6 - 
 
CABINET - 17 March 2020 

 

 

 

 Approve the recommendations with amendments 
Reasons for decision: 

 All recovery methods available had been considered and 
where appropriate pursued before making the decision to 
write off. 

 Officer time can be maximised on greatest returns, at the 
same time as ensuring robust procedures for debt 
management are in place across all revenue streams.) 

   

95. ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE LEADER DECIDES ARE 
URGENT.  

 

  

 There were no urgent items.  

   

 
(The meeting ended at 10:45) 
 
(End of minutes) 
 
 
These minutes are published on Friday 27 March 2020.  In accordance with the 
Council’s Constitution the DECISIONS detailed above will, unless otherwise stated, 
come into force and may then be implemented on Monday 6 April 2020 (i.e. after the 
expiry of 5 working days from the date of publication of these minutes), unless during 
that period a notice which is signed by either a Ward Representative (in relation to a 
matter in their ward) or two members of the Performance Monitoring Panel or any 
three members, and complies with the requirements of the Council’s Constitution is 
served on the Executive Manager Governance requesting that the decision be called-
in and the Executive Manager Governance approves the request for call-in.  Where a 
decision is called-in it will firstly be considered by the Performance Monitoring Panel 
on a date to be fixed. 
 
Any FINAL DECISIONS and any URGENT DECISIONS take effect immediately. 
 
Any RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL detailed above will be submitted for 
consideration to the next available meeting of the full Council.
 

Page 10



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
 
Report of:  Gary Porter, Leader of the Council  
 
To: Cabinet, 16th June 2020 
 
Author: Christine Marshall, Executive Director Commercialisation 

Matthew Hogan, Executive Manager Growth 
Emily Spicer, Place Manager 
Richard Hodgson, Executive Manager, Property and Development  
 

Subject:  COVID-19 Briefing 
 
Purpose: This report sets out a summary of the Council’s response to the Covid-19 

pandemic. 
 
 

 
Recommendation(s):  
 
1. It is RECOMMENDED that the Council’s response to the Covid-19 pandemic be noted.  

 
 

 
 
1. BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 This report presents a high level summary of the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on the 

Council’s services and the way that we have operated.  
 
1.2 The summary is intended to demonstrate the most significant implications on the way that 

the Council operates and the changes that have been made to services and to command 
structures in an emergency response.  

 
1.3 In the weeks leading up to 23 March 2020, when Lockdown commenced, South Hollands’s 

incident response structures were set-up.  A Gold Command group was established under 
to leadership of Christine Marshall (Executive Director Commercialisation), Matthew Hogan 
(Executive Manager Growth), Emily Spicer (Place Manager) and Richard Hodgson 
(Executive Manager Property and Development). This group has overseen the emergency 
operation of the Council and provides the Council’s coordination within the context of the 
work of the Lincolnshire Local Resilience Forum (LRF), which is using well established and 
rehearsed emergency planning governance arrangements to coordinate the multi-agency 
approach across Lincolnshire.  

 
1.4 The LRF stood up a Strategic Coordinating Group, meeting at daily at times which has 

been attended by the Chief Executive and Gold Lead for the week, a Tactical Coordinating 
Group meeting on the same frequency (attended by a Silver representative) and various 
cells. 

 
1.5 The Gold lead and Chief Executive/Executive Director meet with the Leader and Deputy 

Leaders of the Council at least two times per week to brief on the latest position, to take a 
Member steer on the Council’s response and operation, and to make ‘emergency’ 
Executive decisions as required.   

 

Page 11

Agenda Item 7.



1.6 In order to maintain regular contact across the Council, the internal communication function 
has been stepped up alongside our public messaging. At least weekly members briefings 
have been issued and the Chief Executive has frequently communicated with all staff. 

 
1.7 In addition, the Leader meets regularly with the other Lincs Leaders and the local MP and 

briefings are provided each week by MHCLG and the DCN (amongst others). 
 

Note: It should be noted that the figures quoted in this report were accurate at the 
time of drafting but may have changed between drafting and the Cabinet meeting on 
16 June 2020.  

 
 
COUNCIL RESPONSE  
 
Critical Services and Staffing  
 
1.8 The immediate priority for the Gold Command [at the outset] was to seek to maintain all 

critical services, deploy staff accordingly, and to ensure the safety of our staff and 
Members.   
 

1.9 There has been an impact on all of the Council’s services, with some having to stop (e.g. 
leisure, South Holland Centre, Ayscoughfee Hall), and some having a very different scope 
(e.g. Customer Services).   These changes have been brought about to comply with 
government restrictions, and to ensure social distancing objectives, and we have had to 
focus our resource on core services.  
 

1.10 It should be noted that all South Holland Council’s critical services have remained fully 
operational during the response to the COVID19 pandemic albeit being provided in a 
different manner in response to the pandemic. 
 

1.11 Throughout the response to the COVID19 pandemic, we have had up to 61% of SHDC staff 
being able to work remotely from home.  A further 24% have been working on site or on 
refuse rounds.  Only 10% of staff have been unable to work due to sickness, caring 
responsibilities, vulnerabilities, etc and due to closure of services.  There has been only 2 
confirmed cases of COVID19 affecting SHDC officers.  Over 40 officers have been 
redeployed from their substantive duties for the Council to be employed in the provision of 
community, environmental services and business support.   

 
1.12 Attached in Appendix A to this report is an infographic, which displays some of the key 

outcomes from our core critical services and the two work streams detailed below. In 
addition to enhancing existing services, the Council has been given additional 
responsibilities to enforce new regulations to keep the public safe, including requiring 
businesses to close, and supporting them to re-open safely when the government allows. 
 

1.13 Government tasked local authorities with two core objectives during the emergency 
response phase.  One was to support Vulnerable and Shielded people within our 
community by ensuring they had food and medicine supplies.  The second was to support 
our businesses through the distribution of Business Rate Support and grants distribution.  
Its worthy of note that both support to the Vulnerable and to the Business Community 
continues to date.   

 
Economy  
 
1.14 On 17 March 2020, the Chancellor of the Exchequer announced a broad range of financial 

support for the whole economy and a number of these measures included further business 

Page 12



rate reliefs, grants, and funding arrangements with implications for local authorities. Some 
of the key measures announced to date include:  

 

 Business Rates Relief: Businesses in the retail, hospitality, and leisure sectors will pay 
no business rates in 2020/21. This “business rates holiday” applies to all businesses in 
these sectors regardless of rateable value.  

 

 Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Business Grants Fund (RHLBGF): Businesses in the 
retail, hospitality and leisure sectors with rateable values of less than £51,000 will also 
receive a cash grant of up to £25,000.  

 

 Small Business Grants Fund (SBGF): All businesses in receipt of small business rates 
relief (SBRR), regardless of sector, will be eligible for a cash payment of £10,000. It will 
not be available to some recipients of SBRR such as beach hut owners.  

 
1.15 As at 2 June 2020, SHDC had made grants to 1,366 local businesses totalling £15.865m 

and making up 82% of the original funding allocation. 
 
1.16 A further 5% or £0.990m has subsequently been made available by government to provide 

support to local businesses that were not eligible under the first scheme (described above).  
SHDC will be opening its’ local discretionary and means-tested scheme w/c 8 June 2020.  

 
1.17    The Council is also working with the GLLEP to lobby on behalf of the horticulture sector. A 

signed letter to government has gone from the Leader of the Council and the Chairman of 
the GLLEP to seek support for the horticultural sector in a number of key areas, including 
support with funding and access to workforce.  

 
 
Vulnerable 
  
1.18 As part of a countywide effort to support the most vulnerable members of our community 

and those ‘extremely clinically vulnerable’ residents on the “shielded” list, South Holland 
District Council worked together with partners including Wellbeing Lincs, Lincolnshire 
County Council and Lincolnshire Resilience Forum to ensure that access to food, medicine 
and wellbeing support was sufficient for vulnerable and isolated people.  Local foodbanks 
were supported, local business offers of support were utilised and promoted and guidance 
for community groups and volunteers was shared.  Demand, need and provision has been 
regularly monitored. 

 
1.19 The internal Vulnerability and Community team have made over 3,000 check in calls to date 

to local residents to make sure they know what help is available and to offer support. This 
has included; help with shopping, supplies and prescriptions, help with finances and 
support for mental wellbeing. 
 

1.20 Under guidance from MHCLG, referred to as ‘Everyone in’ 26 rough sleepers were provided 
with temporary accommodation, daily telephone support and access to a hot meal. Work 
has been undertaken to offer more formal support and provide more permanent 
accommodation solutions. The council continue to accommodate 8 rough sleepers under 
Covid19 arrangements. 

 
1.21 An initial fund of £50,000 has been identified to support council tenants who are facing 

additional financial hardship as a result of Covid19. The fund is intended to be flexible in 
helping customers sustain their tenancy with the council. Subject to formal adoption this 
fund will help support customers who feel the continued impact of the pandemic. A hardship 
fund was also initiated to support those in crisis and most in need. 

Page 13



 
1.22 Our Landlord services have been adapted to ensure that our staff and customers remain 

safe during the pandemic. We have written to all customers issuing red and green cards to 
help them manage essential visitors to their properties. This has helped us to ensure all 
emergency repairs could be completed and key programmes such as gas servicing could 
continue. We have provided increased levels of telephone support to our customers on a 
range of issues to ensure they are able to manage their tenancy whilst broker additional 
support as required. We are beginning to adapt traditional services such as ‘meet and 
greet’ for our Sheltered Housing customers to ‘Wave from your window’ sessions to ensure 
we stay connected with our customers.  

 
 
TRANSITON: RESPONSE TO RECOVERY 
 
1.23 A draft COVID 19 Operational Recovery Plan is currently being developed.  The Plan will 

focus on how the Council recovers as an organisation, how it reintroduces services, 
supports its staff and members, learns from the experience of dealing with COVID 19, 
benefits from its new community and business links, and more fundamentally how it 
ensures that residents can access the services they need.  A Roadmap to Recovery 
based on known assumptions at this time has been developed and is attached in 
Appendix B.  

1.24 From the beginning of June 2020 new arrangements will be put in place to enable a 

focussed approach to the Council’s recovery.  This will see a temporary place-based 

management arrangement for the duration of recovery ( up to 10 months) and whilst some 

Senior Officers will continue to work across both authorities (South Holland and 

Breckland) the majority will be focused on one or other Council.   

1.25 Appendix C shows the new Interim Management Arrangements. 

1.26 A Ways of Working document has been created which sets out the ‘ways of working’ as a 

predominantly place based team, with some strategic oversight and shared corporate 

services supporting each council’s tailored recovery plan.  There will remain oversight and 

guidance across both councils, especially between senior management for peer support 

when needed.  This document also looks at Staff Morale, Wellbeing, Staff Survey 

feedback and sets out the expectations on staff at this time.  

1.27 A Shared Management Roadmap (Appendix D) has been created to show how the 

Interim Management Arrangements go through Response, Transition, Recovery, 

Normalisation and completion and return back to a Shared Management arrangement 

over a 10-month period.  

 
1.28 As government signals its intent to unlock some of the current restrictions on individuals 

and businesses in the coming weeks and months the Council is working collaboratively 
with the LLEP partners, developers, builders and businesses to build confidence for our 
businesses, employees and residents. This will be a total council approach to supporting 
our place.    

 
1.29 We continue to work remotely and Officers and Members of the Council have adapted and 

responded really positively to this new way of working.  The organisation that ‘recovers’ 
from the emergency will look different and we should maximise and reflect the learning 
from the emergency and the opportunities it now presents us.     

 
 
 

Page 14



 
 
COUNCIL GOVERNANCE AND DECISION MAKING  
 
1.30 In light of the necessity to ensure compliance with the requirements relating to social 

distancing, the decision was made not to hold most of the planned meetings in April and 
May 2020. A number of meetings in June have also been cancelled.  

 
1.31 New Regulations which permit remote local authority meetings, until 7 May 2021, came 

into force on 4 April 2020. A remote meeting of the Panel of the Committee of the 
Licensing Authority was held on 17 April and a remote meeting of the Council was held on 
13 May. The Council meeting approved (amongst other things) changes to our Standing 
Orders to reflect new procedures needed for virtual meetings. 

 
1.32 The Chairman’s Panel has now started to meet and has held its first remote meeting to 

support the Place Team in dealing with delegated planning decisions.   
 
1.33 A number of further meetings have been scheduled for June and July, to be held 

remotely, including this Cabinet meeting, Licensing Panel hearings, Performance 
Monitoring Panel, Policy Development Panel and Governance & Audit Committee.  

 
1.34  All decisions have been taken in line with government guidance and South Holland 

Council’s constitution. 
 
 
2.0      OPTIONS 
 
2.1 That Cabinet note the contents of this report. 
 
2.2       Do Nothing. 
 
 
3.0      REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
3.1 To ensure that members of the Cabinet are kept informed of the way in which the Council is 

responding to the Covid-19 pandemic.  
 
 
4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS 
 
4.1 As above, to ensure that members of the Cabinet are informed of the way which services 

are changing and continue to change in terms of the Council’s response to the Covid-19 
pandemic. 

 
 
5.0 IMPLICATIONS 
 
 In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
 decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
 Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection; 
 Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk 
 Management;  Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Other. 
 Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more of 
 these headings, these are identified below. 
 

Page 15



 
 
 
5.1.1 Constitution & Legal 

 
5.1.2 The Council has a memorandum of agreement with Breckland Council, which outlines our 

Ways of Working with the Senior Shared Management Team.  This is important to ensure 
our Strategic Relationship remains strong through these challenging times and with several 
of our shared officers working placed based for a period through this crisis. 
 

5.1.3 All decisions in the emergency response stage have been taken in line with the Council’s 
constitution and government guidance. 
 

5.2 Contracts 
 

5.2.1 We have worked with and supported our main contractors. PSPS have remained fully 
operational.  Parkwood, on government instruction have closed the leisure centre sites and 
furloughed the majority of their staff.    

        
5.3  Corporate Priorities 

 
5.3.1 We have needed to adapt our Corporate Priorities through this pandemic, whilst 

maintaining all core critical Council services.  Our Priorities will be reviewed as part of our 
Recovery Plan. 

 
5.5  Financial  
 
5.5.1 The Financial impacts of COVID-19 have been provided in another report to this Cabinet 

meeting, which shows an overview of the current assessment of the emerging financial 
impact to the council from the Covid-19 pandemic. 

 
5.6 Health & Wellbeing 

 
5.6.1 As detailed above, we have managed the Health and Wellbeing of all of our staff 

throughout this Crisis and it continues to be a key focus.  We have supported staff and 
allowed them to be home enabled.  

 
The Health and Wellbeing of our residents is of key importance and the work being 
undertaken to support vulnerable residents across the district is supporting this.  

 
5.7  Reputation  

 
5.7.1 Communications have been key in all the work taken place through the pandemic to ensure 

we are managing the reputation of the Council.  Internal communication has been 
increased to ensure our colleagues and members have the information and guidance 
they need to safely fulfil their duties, and to keep fully informed on the various changes 
that may affect their work. This is particularly important as a significant proportion of our 
colleagues are operating remotely during this period.  

 
5.8 Risk Management  

 
5.8.1 We have a strategic risk matrix for the Pandemic that covers all areas of Council                      

services. 
 
5.9  Staffing 

Page 16



 
5.9.1 All Staff and Councillors will have been affected by the COVID-19 Pandemic in one way or 

another.  We have needed to be flexible and find new ways of working to ensure we are 

delivering the Council’s critical services whilst protecting staff and Members.  The majority 
of the Council’s employees are working, and many are working enhanced hours to 
support our collective response.  
 
 

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 
 
6.1 All Wards and all Communities are affected by the COVID-19 Pandemic and, in turn, by 

South Holland District Council’s response. 
 
 
7.0 ACRONYMS  
 
7.1  LRF - Lincolnshire Resilience Forum 
 

Background papers: -  

 
Lead Contact Officer 
 
Name and Post:  Christine Marshall, Executive Director of Commercialisation 
Telephone Number: 07957 467811 
Email: christine.marshall@breckland-sholland.gov.uk 
 
Key Decision: No  
 
Exempt Decision: No  
 
This report refers to a Mandatory Service and Discretionary Service 
 
Appendices attached to this report 
 
Appendix A Infographic on Delivery of Core Council Services and New Emerging 

Service provision.  
 
Appendix B South Holland Roadmap to Recovery 
 
Appendix C South Holland Interim Management Arrangements 
 
Appendix D Shared Management Roadmap 
 
 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH HOLLAND CURRENT 
ASSUMPTIONS JUNE 2020

2020 / 2021

May
Response phase 

Services tailored to COVID response. 
Place based management. Face to Face 
extremely vulnerable only by 
appointment .  Priory Road essential 
staff only . Virtual  Full Council, 
Licensing Committee, Chairman’s 
Panel . Staff Survey. Grants 
Administration. Community and 
Vulnerable Support . Community  
Response Leaflet. 

July 
Transition phase 
Further economic recovery and business 
support into COVID implementation. 
Further Staff Survey. Budget Review 
commenced. Continued Town Centre 
Support . Partial Committee 
implementation. Housing capital 
programme.  Review risk assessment 
Priory Road. Review of position 
statement on  temporary housing. Test 
and Trace. 

September
Recovery phase 
Review risk assessment Priory Road. All 
services working COVID BAU, review  
Leisure, SHC and AHMG based on 
Government Guidance.  Continued risk 
assessment monitoring Priory Road. 
Further Staff Survey. Supporting staff 
( changing circumstances).  Budget 
review completed. Test and Trace. 

November
Normalisation phase 
Review of partner service operating plans. 
Priory Road risk assessment updated.  
Review option for SHC reopening 
dependent on Govt advice and outcome 
of SHC risk assessments. Interim 
Corporate Plan changes. Test and Trace. 

January 2021
Normalisation phase
Shared CMT oversight.  Review risk 
assessment Priory Road and West 
Marsh Road . Staff Survey.  Test and 
Trace. Economic Recovery and local 
business support  maintained . Voluntary 
and Community support tailored to 
seasonal trends and demands. 

E

June
Transition phase 
Supporting Economic Recovery. 
Supporting Businesses. Discretionary 
Grants. Test and Trace.  Markets and 
Town Centres.  Supporting Staff 
following staff survey . Place based 
management with some sharing. 
Working with housing developers/
builders.   Vir tual Committee 
Meetings, and Cabinet.  Review key 
work programmes. 

August
Recovery phase 
Review risk assessment Priory Road. 
Review of staffing arrangements. 
Review face to face service in line 
with  Government guidance .  Working 
with local businesses supporting the 
agricultural economy. Review Town 
Centre arrangements. Test and Trace.

October 
Recovery phase
Occupational review risk assessment 
Priory Road and West Marsh Road  
Virtual committee cycle plus 
Chairmans Panel . Budget cycle. 
Target start on site SWRR .  Further 
review of Town Centre arrangements. 
Test and Trace. 

December
Normalisation phase 
Review risk assessment Priory Road 
and West Marsh Road . Review of 
staffing arrangements and required 
staff support. Sustained economic 
and business support. Town Centre 
support re Xmas Trading.  SHDC 
Delivery Programme and associated 
resource plan reviewed in line with  
Corporate Plan.  Test and Trace. 

February 2021
Gateway phase 

Shared Management . Priory Road 
and occupancy reviewed subject to 
Government Guidance.  SHC and 
AHMG opening dependent on 
Government advice. Full committee 
cycle inc draft budget review. Test 
and Trace.Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



Interim Recovery Management Arrangements SHDC 

Anna Graves
Chief Executive

(Head of Paid Service)

Christine Marshall 
Executive Director 

Growth & 
Commercialisation

Jenny Stephens

 Lead
Project Manager

June 9th 2020 

Greg Pearson 
Senior Policy Advisor 

(Shared)

Property, Building 
& Partners 

Mobilisation Cell

Infrastructure 
Programmes 
Business & 

Economic Cell

 Communities & 
Vulnerable Cell

Organisational 
Recovery Cell

Shaun Gibbons 
Ross Bangs (shared)

Covid BAU
Cell demands Programme 
req''s Resilience in 
anticipation of further 
waves/lockdown HR issues 
Agile working
Working arrangements Gold 
Comms/Digital
External/Internal Comms 
Member Comms
PR
CIP

Karen Lockwood

 Lead

Caroline Hannon 
Justin Leckie
Nigel Burch
Paul Jackson
John Mullen (shared)

SWRR/FEZ
Housing 
Business Grants 
Economic recovery 
Business support 
Business engagement 
Construction sector 
Support: JL/NB Homes 
England

Matthew Hogan

 Housing & 
Homelessness 

Cell

Jason King

 Critical Services 
Cell

 Lead

Dee Bedford
Rachel Rowett

Continued support for 
vulnerable residents
Community Resilience
Community Safety; ASB, 
Domestic Abuse, Fraud
Health and Wellbeing
Leisure and Culture
South Holland Centre
Ayscoughfee Hall 
Museum & Gardens

Emily Holmes

 Lead

Charlotte Paine
Phil Norman
Clint Bell
Jason King
Phil Stacey

Environmental services 
Building Control 
Planning 
HRA
Covid BAU for housing 
Business compliance 
Food safety
Contact tracing 
Environmental health 
Licensing

LRF:
Recovery Cell

LRF:
Recovery 

Infrastructure 
Sub Cell

LRF:
Business & 

Economy Cell

LRF:
Recovery 

Resourcing 
Cell

LRF:
Recovery 

Comms Cell
Warn & Inform

LRF:
Communities Cell

LRF:
Health & 

Social Care 
Cell

LRF:
MAIC Cell

 Lead
Project Manager Lead

Matthew Hogan 
Executive Manager 

Growth

Richard Hodgson 
Executive Manager 

Property & Development

Emily Spicer

Place Manager

Vikki Cherry

Private Sector Landlord 
Suport Homelessness 
and Housing Issues

Rhonda Booth 
Richard Shepherd (shared)  

PSPS Client 
Governance
Legal
Dems Manager/
Member engagement
DPO (shared)
Elections
Contracts and
Procurement
Safeguarding

 Governance  
Cell

 Lead

Mark Stinson Emily Spicer
 Lead

Lewis Duckett

Samantha Knowles 
Carl Holland

HR
Finance

Revenue & Benefits
Health & Safety
NNDR

PSPS Cell

Karen Lockwood

Buildings 
Partners
PSPS
DWP
CAB
Registrars
SH Centre
Ayscoughfee
Depot
Other assets
Industrial Estates

 Exec Support

Louise Scotney
Natalie Warren

Donna Hall
Richard Boole

IT
Customer Services

Sarah Wolstenholme-Smy 
(shared)

P
age 23



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Shared Management Roadmap
COVID19 Pandemic response/recovery 

2020/21

Response:

Shared CX

Shared Policy Officer

Place Based CMT

Place based senior management

00 01 02 03

Transition:

Shared CX

Shared Policy Officer

Place Based CMT

Shared CIP, Legal & Contracts

Place based senior management

04 05 06

Recovery:

Shared CX

Shared Policy Officer

CMT with shared oversight 

Shared CIP, Legal & Contracts

Place based senior management 

07 08 09

Normalisation:

Shared CX

Shared Policy Officer

Shared CMT

Shared CIP, Legal & Contracts

Place based senior management 

10 11 12

Completion:

Shared CX

Shared Policy Officer

Shared CMT

Shared senior management

Start

MarJan FebMar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov

Finish
Dec

Breckland and South Holland District Councils 15.05.2020

P
age 25



T
his page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
Report of:  Councillor Peter Coupland, Portfolio Holder - Finance  
 
To: Cabinet, 16 June 2020 
 
Author: Samantha Knowles, Strategic Finance & Compliance Manager 
 
Subject:  Financial implications of Covid-19 
 
Purpose: To update on the potential financial implications resulting from the Covid-

19 pandemic 
 

 
Recommendation(s):  
 
1) That Cabinet note the report and financial implications to the Council. 
 

 
1.0  BACKGROUND 
 
1.1  This report provides an overview of the current assessment of the emerging financial 

impact to the council from the Covid-19 pandemic.  The financial position and national 
picture is constantly changing therefore the values included in this report must be seen in 
this context and will be subject to change over the coming months. 

 
1.2 The Government has announced two tranches of funding to date of £1.6bn each to 

support local authority finances.  South Holland District Council has received a total of 
£1,006k from this funding.  Despite this, the Council is facing considerable challenges 
from both additional costs and from reduced income and this funding is unlikely to cover 
our total losses unless additional funding is provided.   

 
The financial challenges arise from different areas: 

 Costs – cost pressures from increasing demand such as temporary housing 
accommodation, leisure, waste, housing benefit, exceptional costs such as 
community support work and communications and contractual costs. 

 Income – significant lost income in fees and charges (planning, building control, car 
parking, debt enforcement, etc.) and potential rent holiday/waiver requests from 
commercial property tenants. 

 Savings – the current year’s savings plans are at high risk of non-delivery as focus 
has been diverted in order to manage the pandemic response. 

 Investments – loss of investment income from reduced interest rates and prioritising 
short term deposits to maximise liquidity. 

 Funding – falls in collection rates on council tax and NNDR and an increase in 
Council Tax Support Scheme demands could have a significant impact in the 
funding due to the council. 

 
1.3 Appendix A provides our current high level estimates of additional costs and lost income 

pressures based of what we believe to be an optimistic, realistic or pessimistic outcome of 
the current COVID-19 pandemic, these figures are before the application of the 
Government funding already received. 

 
 There is a high degree of uncertainty within these forecasts and they will continue to be 

refined as the situation develops both locally and nationally.   

Page 27

Agenda Item 8.



 
1.4 In order to ensure the Council can manage these pressures in this ever changing 

environment, work will be carried out over the coming weeks with budget managers to 
review each budget line to identify areas of saving which can be re-allocated to current 
priorities which will change and adapt to the latest situation, ensuring the Council can 
respond quickly.  The capital programme will also be reviewed to determine timings and 
priority of existing projects.  This will be done in conjunction with the Gold and Silver 
Command resources to ensure focus on future priorities is given. 

 
 However, it is highly likely that the Council will have to draw on reserves in the current year 

and potentially next year in order to balance the budget.  Our reserves are mainly allocated 
to specific projects, with only a limited amount available.  The General Fund as at 1 April 
currently holds £2,078k, this is the working balance that helps the authority to cushion 
against uneven cash flow and unexpected events. 

 
Appendix A shows the level of un-allocated reserves which are held for emergency 
purposes (such as this) including the General Fund.  Whilst we could draw on our General 
Fund to some degree it would not be prudent to use all of it in case of future emergencies.  
Although budget savings will be utilised initially where possible, there is likely to be a need 
to re-divert resources to exceptional costs and new priorities. 
 
If our lost income and spend exceeds these values then we will need to draw on other 
areas such as the Council Tax Reserve and Investment & Growth Reserve.  Drawing on 
these reserves will result in pressures on achieving savings in future with no funds 
remaining to invest in property, growth or savings initiatives or smooth business rate 
income volatility.  It will also impact on our ability to deliver key projects.  
 
Additionally we could choose to re-prioritise some projects from these reserves to allocate 
funding to our new priorities and this work will also take place over the coming weeks and 
months. 

 
1.5 MHCLG have created a data collection exercise aimed to provide Government with up to 

date information on how existing funding is being used and the changes in income and 
expenditure for Councils.  The 1st collection exercise was carried out in April and has been 
refined for the 2nd collection in May.  To date there have been inconsistencies in how the 
returns were completed nationally due to differing interpretations on the form requirements 
and it is hoped that the consistency will improve as further collection exercises are carried 
out.   

 
South Holland District Council, Lincolnshire District colleagues and other national groups 
such as DCN and LGA continue to lobby Government to highlight our cost pressures in the 
hope that further funding will be forthcoming so that the cost burden does not fall onto the 
Council Tax payers of SHDC or impact on our future service delivery. 

 
2.0 OPTIONS 
 
2.1  That Cabinet note the report and financial implications to the Council. 
 
2.2 Do nothing. 
 
3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
3.1  This report is for information purposes. 
 
4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS 

Page 28



 
4.1  To provide an overview of the current assessment of the emerging financial impact to the 

council from the Covid-19 pandemic. 
 
5.0 IMPLICATIONS 
 

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; Constitutional 
& Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection; Equality & 
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Other. Where the report 
author considers that there may be implications under one or more of these headings, 
these are identified below. 

 
5.1  Financial  

The report is of a financial nature & includes information within the report. 
 

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 
 
6.1 N/A 
 
7.0 ACRONYMS  
 
7.1 DCN – District Councils Network 
7.2 LGA – Local Government Association 
7.3 MHCLG – Ministry of Housing Communities and Local Government 

 

Background papers:-  

 
Lead Contact Officer 
Name and Post:  Samantha Knowles, Strategic Finance & Compliance Manager 
Telephone Number: 01775 764684 
Email: SKnowles@sholland.gov.uk> 
 
Key Decision: No  
 
Exempt Decision: No  
 
This report refers to Mandatory Service & Discretionary Services 
 
Appendices attached to this report:  
Appendix A Financial Summary 

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A 
 
Current high level estimates of additional costs and lost income 
 
The table’s below show the total cost pressure the council is estimating before the 
application of the £1,006,297 government grant. 
 

Covid-19 Estimated Financial Position - Optimistic  

  

Total 1 
April to 30 

June 20 
 

Addn costs/ lost 
income July 20 

to March 21 
Total Known 
costs to Date 

Additional Covid-19 related spend 192,441  
 

347,320 539,761 

Lost income - optimistic 440,218  
 

816,635 1,256,853  

Total Cost Pressure 632,659  
 

1,163,955 1,796,614 

          

     
Covid-19 Estimated Financial Position - Realistic  

  

Total 1 
March to 

30 June 20 
 

Addn costs/ lost 
income July 20 

to March 21 
Total Known 
costs to Date 

Additional Covid-19 related spend 192,441  
 

578,156  770,597  

Lost income - realistic 440,218  
 

1,320,654  1,760,872  

Total Cost Pressure 632,659   1,898,810  2,531,469  

          

     
Covid-19 Estimated Financial Position - Pessimistic  

  

Total 1 
April to 30 

June 20 
 

Addn costs/ lost 
income July 20 

to March 21 
Total Known 
costs to Date 

Additional Covid-19 related spend 192,441  
 

687,010  879,451  

Lost income - pessimistic 440,218  
 

2,761,171  3,201,389  

Total Cost Pressure 632,659    3,448,181  4,080,840  

          
 
Emergency Reserve Un-allocated Balance at 1 April 2020 
 

Reserve Available Balance 

Investment & Growth Reserve 1,540,616  

Council Tax Reserve 1,507,127  

General Fund Reserve 2,078,400  

BALANCES 5,126,143  

 
It would not be prudent use all of the General Fund reserve, but part could be used. 
 
 
 

Page 31



Assumptions used to forecast lost income 
 
Each reduction assumption is based on what impact recovery has on the individual service 
area and the income budget profile. 
 

Income Area 

Annual 
Budget 

 
Assumed Reduction 

£’000  Pessimistic Realistic Optimistic 

Planning Income 750  75% 25% 25% 

Building Control Income 412  75% 25% 25% 

Land Charges Income 151  75% 25% 25% 

Investment interest 544  43% 32% 26% 

Industrial units 209  75% 50% 25% 

New industrial Units 55  100% 100% 100% 

Leisure Income 115  75% 50% 25% 

Car Park Income 441  75% 50% 25% 

Eco staff costs (G4G) 89  100% 50% 25% 

Ayscoughfee Gardens rental income 6  100% 100% 100% 

Court income 254  75% 50% 25% 

Efficiency Target not achieved 993  75% 50% 25% 

Markets 85  100% 75% 50% 

Garden Waste Subs & Recycling 310  75% 25% 50% 

Bus Income 9  75% 50% 25% 

Council Tax (22% not collected via DD) 1,127  25% 15% 10% 

Council Tax (Payments made via DD) 3,995  15% 5% 10% 

NNDR Income (40% share) 4,745  10% 5% 0% 

 

Page 32



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

Report of: Executive Director - Commercialisation  

  

To: Cabinet Tuesday, 16 June 2020  

 

(Author: Charlotte Paine Environmental Services Manager) 

 

Subject Re-Opening of South Holland Markets and Spalding Market Stall Provision 

 

Purpose: To consider the options for re-opening the markets in South Holland and the 

market stalls provision at Spalding market  

 

 
Recommendations: 
 

1) That, in order to secure the safe re-opening of South Holland District Council markets, in 
line with government guidance introduced due to Covid-19, 
 

a. the current practice of erecting and dismantling SHDC stalls at Spalding Tuesday 
and Saturday markets be suspended;  

b. the removal of trade waste by South Holland District Council at Holbeach, Long 
Sutton and Crowland markets be terminated, thereby making the service 
equitable across all markets; 

c. a book and pay system for traders who wish to stand at any SHDC market be 
introduced to enable a planned approach to market layouts each week and 
remove the need for cash handling, both of which assist with the opening of 
Covid-safe markets; 

d. in the event that, following the consultation referred to in Appendix B, the current 
practice of erecting and dismantling stalls at the Spalding market is ended, the 
fees for Spalding market traders be amended as shown at paragraph 1.20;    

e. a rent free period be introduced for traders until 31st July 2020 to support the 
recovery of markets; 

f. social distancing procedures be introduced at all markets including changing the 
layouts to accommodate the new government guidance;   

g. the market trader handbook be amended in line with the above 
recommendations: 

h. the following toilets be re-opened with an enhanced, hourly cleaning regime: 
a. Spalding Vine Street and Winfrey Avenue Tuesday to Saturday 8am to 

4pm; 
b. Long Sutton and Holbeach Monday to Friday 8am to 2pm. 

 
2) That the portfolio holder for Place be authorised to:  

 
a. designate a statutory market at Victoria Street car park, Spalding should the volume 

of traders increase to such a point that it is deemed appropriate to enable the 
Spalding markets to operate safely in accordance with Government guidance; and 

 
b. make a recommendation to Full Council or the appropriate Chief Officer (in 

consultation with the Chief Executive) in relation to any proposed impact on 
employment arising from the consultation process referred to at Appendix B; and 

 
3) That the Environmental Services Manager be authorised, in consultation with the 

Page 33

Agenda Item 9.



Portfolio Holder for Place, to: 
a. Undertake the necessary consultation in relation to any proposed impact on  

employment referred to in Appendix B;  
b. Change fees as set out; 
c. Procure and implement a book and pay system; 
d. To continue to monitor the government guidance as part of the Covid-19 

response and make amendments alongside guidance changes, as required. 
  

 

An officer decision was published on 9th June which put in place a number of temporary decisions 

until such time as this cabinet report was implementable. These are now included within this 

report.  

 

1) BACKGROUND 

 

1.1 The impact of Covid-19 on the UK has meant that the government had to make the 
decision to introduce lock-down and shut certain retail outlets, including markets. On 
24th March the decision was made to close markets in South Holland following 
government guidance and for the safety of our traders, staff and visitors.  
 

1.2 As the lock-down on England eased, the government announced on 24th May that 
outdoor markets could reopen from 1st June, so long as they were ‘Covid safe’. This 
term refers to measures such as social distancing, safe site layouts and clear signage 
being in place at all markets in order for them to open.  

 

1.3 Markets are an important part of our towns and should be opened as soon as they are 
safe to do so. Markets cannot re-open as they were previously as government guidance 
states that measures such as social distancing must be implemented to make them 
safe to re-open. Therefore changes have needed to be made to the markets including 
location, layout, pitch booking and stall provision, to make them safe and provide 
confidence to those returning to our towns. 

 

1.4 As part of the budget for 2020/21 the Council has a significant savings target and this 
service was identified as an area with the potential for generating service efficiencies in-
year. 

 

1.5 Having considered the government and national market body NABMA, guidance we 
have assessed each market to understand the changes required to ensure our markets 
are ‘Covid safe’ and can therefore re-open. There are a number of key changes that will 
be made across the South Holland markets of Spalding, Crowland, Holbeach and Long 
Sutton. Some changes are relevant to all markets whereas some are site specific. The 
report makes clear which markets will be impacted by the changes proposed. 

 

1.6 Alongside the work that the council has done to review the government guidance, we 
have also been in contact with traders. Calls were made with traders in May and June 
to discuss implications of the Covid outbreak and potential changes that may need to 
be considered to allow for the safe and efficient re-opening of markets.  

 

1.7 The market specific guidance released by NABMA states ‘Social distancing will be 
needed until at least the end of the year to prevent fresh outbreaks of coronavirus even 
though the UK has reached the peak of the current epidemic’, therefore we must ensure 
we make the markets safe now and into the coming months. One of the key ways to do 
this will be ensuring the layouts of our markets can support social distancing guidelines, 
which are that we remain 2m apart. 

Page 34



 

1.8 We reviewed each market to ensure that we can introduce these changes and have 
considered a number of approaches for this, including new locations for markets and 
altering where pitches are in each market. This report includes, in Appendix A, a 
proposed layout for the Spalding Market that has been drawn up taking social 
distancing guidelines into account for traders, businesses, customers and the public. 
The proposals have considered where businesses may require space to introduce their 
own queuing systems outside their shops and how we can ensure the markets do not 
impact on the safety of these.  

 

1.9 In order to ensure that we can maintain safe layouts for our markets, it is vital that we 
know which traders are looking to attend each market. It is also important that we, like 
others such as supermarkets, introduce safe methods of payment. Therefore we are 
recommending to introduce an online book and pay system for traders at all markets. 
This will enable traders to book on to the market they would like to stand and make 
payment. It removes the risk of cash handling between traders to staff and gives South 
Holland advance notice of trader numbers to monitor safe layouts. 

 

1.10 Whilst reviewing the market layouts, it was considered that minimal changes were 
required to Crowland and Holbeach markets given their size and location. Therefore 
there are no layout changes proposed. However, Spalding and Long Sutton both 
require changes to what was considered the normal layout prior to the outbreak. 

 

1.11 Long Sutton has been reviewed to consider its proximity to the businesses and the 
road. Safety is the primary concern for SHDC when re-opening the markets. Not only 
for our traders but the businesses, customers and visitors to the towns and markets.  

 

1.12 After seeking initial advice from Lincolnshire County Council (LCC) highways, we were 
aware that the potential for closing the road was very limited and in order to enable the 
efficient re-opening of the market, a proposal to re-locate the market in the SHDC 
owned car park in West Street was provided to the Parish and Ward members. At this 
time there is no agreed consensus for the safe location of the market and whilst we are 
unable to provide a timescale for re-opening, we continue to work through feedback 
received from ward members to establish a safe and legal option for the opening of this 
market. 

 

1.13 During the outbreak some traders contacted the council to request permission to trade. 
They were within the government guidelines for food retail that could remain open, 
therefore these traders have been trading using a street trading licence. They will likely 
remain trading under such licence until the market location and safety is agreed. 

 

1.14 In Spalding there were similar issues regarding the layout of the market and how we 
could safely re-instate the market without much disruption. Consideration was given to 
moving the market to Victoria Street car park due to the early representations from 
traders about the numbers wanting to return to the market immediately. During the 
second consultation with traders, numbers reduced with some looking to return in future 
weeks and consideration was given to the original locations of Market Place and Hall 
Place, being retained with some traders needing to relocate to Sheep Market. 

 

1.15 The proposed layout in Appendix A shows the markets new positioning in the town and 
flows along with the one way system that has been introduced for pedestrian traffic.  

 

1.16 Whilst we may be able to maintain the market close to its original position in Market 
Place currently, it will be necessary to move traders from their usual pitch site in order 

Page 35



to adhere to guidance and facilitate use of Sheep Market to avoid a more disruptive 
move. Should the market traders increase to such a point that we are unable to 
maintain safe distances, we may need to consider moving the market to Victoria Street 
or reducing the number of traders or size of stalls, in consultation with the traders. 

 

1.17 Should we require a move of the market to Victoria Street, this will be done in 
accordance with section 50 of the Food Act 1984.  The Council's market rights are 
contained in a conveyance to the former Spalding Town Commissioners dated 19 
January 1876.  The wording of the conveyance is unclear, but it is considered that the 
Victoria Street car park does not come within the area of the Council's existing market 
rights.  Therefore, in order to hold markets on the Victoria Street car park, it is 
necessary to establish new markets under the provisions of the Food Act 1984. 

 
1.18 If it becomes necessary, due to the number of traders wishing to stand at the Spalding 

markets, to give further consideration to a relocation of the market to Victoria Street to 
ensure a safe market in Spalding, this would be undertaken in consultation with the 
leader and portfolio holder. Discussions will also be taken with representatives of the 
market traders.  

 

1.19 As part of the assessment for safe market re-opening consideration was also given to 
the provision of stalls. Spalding Market is the only market that we provide for which we 
erect and dismantle the market stalls. The market here is held weekly every Tuesday 
and Saturday and staff of environmental services are responsible for storing, delivering 
and pre-erecting the market stalls. 5 members of staff are required to do this, including 
a tractor driver for approximately 4 hours per market day. 

 

1.20 The potential for close proximity working for staff who erect and dismantle the market 
stalls, were considered when proposing the suspension of this service, as well as 
ensuring fairness across the markets as we do not provide them at other locations. It is 
acknowledged that alongside the recommendation for the removal of this service, there 
should be a resulting change to the charges for those standing at Spalding market. 

 

1.21 A benchmarking exercise was undertaken to establish a suitable charge for Spalding 
market if stalls were no longer provided. Based on this, it is recommended that the fees 
for long term pitch traders be reduced, following the outcome of the proposals in 
Appendix B.  

 

1.22 The changes proposed would be to move from £17.40 currently charged for a 2.4m stall 
provided by SHDC to £11.20 for an equivalent size 2.4m stall that traders would supply 
themselves (£14.00 for a 3m pitch). This is a competitive price when compared to local 
charges identified in the benchmarking exercise as set out in the table below. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 36



Costs Stall Provided  Bring Your Own Stall 

Council 
Casual 
Traders 

Stall 

Long Term 
traders 

Stall 
Casual Pitch Long Term Pitch 

South Holland 

Current Prices 
£20.40 £17.40 

£1.90 per 300mm 
(£19 for 3m) 

£1.90 per 300mm 
(£19 for 3m) 

South Holland 

New Prices based on 
Bring Your Own Stall 

- - 
£1.90 per 300mm 

(£19 for 3m) 
£1.40 per 300m 
(£14.00 for 3m) 

South Kesteven - 
Bourne 

£21.00 £19.30 
£16.75 

(3.05m x 3.05m ) 
£16.25 

(3.05m x 3.05m) 

Boston Borough £26.00 £23.00 - - 

West Lindsey - 
Tuesday 

£17.50 £16.00 - - 

 
 

1.23 The detail regarding the impact of the changes to potentially removing stall provision is 
available in Appendix B which is an exempt item under paragraphs 1 and 3. 
 

1.24 Further to this, we have identified another area in which we have a policy which differs 
across markets. Currently for all markets other than Spalding, traders do not always 
take their waste with them. This has required SHDC to remove this waste through a 
trade waste arrangement with LCC. This practice comes at a cost to SHDC with 
expenses incurred for staff, vehicles and trade waste disposal. It is recommended that 
this practice is changed so that traders at all markets remove their own waste. This will 
ensure equity across all our markets. 

 

1.25 To further support our traders to return to the markets post the government lockdown, 
we recommend that the fee to stand should be waived between the re-opening and the 
31st July. This will enable our traders to return as the confidence increases within the 
public to return to our town which should in turn mean a footfall increase across the 
district. Traders will still be required to book online to acknowledge their desire to stand 
on each market and support safe layouts. 

 

1.26 In order to support traders, a review of the market trader handbook will be undertaken 
to align it with the changes that are detailed in this report and ensure that they are 
relevant to current and upcoming government guidance. It will likely be necessary for 
further changes to be made to the markets in consultation with the leader and portfolio 
holder as government guidance changes in the coming months.  
 

2) OPTIONS 

 

2.1 Option One – Make changes as outlined to enable the opening of the markets in line 

with government guidance. This will ensure that traders and customers can feel safe to 

return to our towns and shop locally, thereby supporting the local economy. Those changes 

include; 

 

 Introducing an online book and pay system 

 Changing layouts at Spalding and Long Sutton markets 

 Suspending the provision of stalls in Spalding market 

 Amending the fees for traders in Spalding should stall provision cease 

 Ceasing the removal of trade waste at markets by SHDC 

Page 37



 Introducing a rent free period for market traders until 31st July 2020  

 Re-opening of toilets in Spalding, Long Sutton and Holbeach with an hourly cleaning 

regime. 

 

2.2 Option Two – Do nothing and therefore markets cannot re-open safely in the current 

Covid environment. This option does not support our market towns, local economy, 

traders or residents to buy locally and is not the preferred option of this report.   

 

3) REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

3.1 The re-opening of markets is key to the vitality of our towns and local economy. The 

markets must open swiftly but safely and in line with government guidance. Ensuring the 

safety of our traders, businesses, town and market visitors and residents is of utmost 

importance to SHDC. Therefore we must make changes to allow the markets to open in 

line with guidance and provide confidence to those returning to our towns. 

 

3.2 Each of the recommendations feeds into the wider picture of a safe and secure market offer 

whilst ensuring that alternative approaches, which can create savings for the council, are 

implemented where appropriate. 

 

3.3 The introduction of an online book and pay system for traders is the first step in ensuring 

our markets are laid out safely and appropriate for each market’s needs. The best way for 

us to be able to monitor these layouts and flex and grow in the coming months is to have 

an accurate picture of the traders that wish to stand, their required pitch size and also 

reduce the need for face to face interaction for money collection. 

 

3.4 Once we understand the numbers of traders wishing to stand, we must ensure that layouts 

are Covid safe. This means that we are complying with government and NABMA guidance. 

NABMA has a checklist of guidelines/considerations that can assist with making sure 

markets are safely re-opened and adhering to the 2m requirements. These include; 

 

 Limiting customer numbers  

 Managing aisle width 

 Considering stall layout and numbers 

 Creating one way systems 

 Using barriers  

 Installing signage 

 

3.5 We have considered all of the above and have implemented the guidance to ensure our 

proposed layouts address each of these areas for safe distances between stalls, 

businesses and pedestrian traffic. 

 

3.6 The suspension of the current provision of stalls in Spalding is recommended whilst we 

review the impact of Covid and close proximity working and consider the financial 

implications for SHDC for maintaining the service. More detail regarding this is available in 

Appendix B. 

 

3.7 It is recommended that in light of the proposed stall provision suspension that the rent 

charges for Spalding be reviewed in line with the benchmarking exercise undertaken. This 

Page 38



will support the traders and recognises that the removal of this service should result in a 

reduction in costs for traders where the costs have been reduced for SHDC. 

 

3.8 The removal of trade waste that is only currently available at some, not all, markets 

provides an inequity which should be addressed. The practice comes at a cost to SHDC 

which is set to increase following changes to the charges for disposal levied by LCC. 

 

3.9 It is important that we re-open the markets safely and that we support traders to return and 

therefore, the proposal to support traders with a rent free period until 31st July enables 

traders to return in the coming weeks whilst confidence is returned to the public to visit our 

towns. The re-opening of the toilets in these towns is important to support the public back 

to them. However, as with everything in a Covid climate, changes are required. 

 

3.10 It is therefore recommended that the Spalding toilets in Vine Street and Winfrey Avenue to 

re-open Tuesday to Saturday 8am to 4pm with an hourly cleaning regime. These hours are 

recommended as they fall across the towns’ previously busy times and enable the 

restructuring of staff hours and duties to provide enhanced cleaning. For Long Sutton and 

Holbeach, the recommendation is to re-open Monday to Friday 8am to 2pm. Again these 

are considered the busy times in the towns and will enable the improved cleaning regime 

within current staffing levels. In Crowland, the toilets are maintained by the parish with 

support from SHDC and we have been in touch regarding our plans and suggested working 

practices. 

 

4) EXPECTED BENEFITS 

 

4.1 The overall aim of this report is to support our local economy, our traders, businesses and 

the visitors to our towns and markets to return safely following the Covid restrictions. 

Without these changes, our markets could not re-open. 

 

4.2 Each of the recommendations assists with the safe re-opening of the markets in the 

quickest and safest way possible. These benefits include; 

 

 Providing confidence to visitors and customers that the layouts of markets have been 

reviewed to ensure safe distancing; 

 Reducing potential for cash handling between SHDC staff and traders; 

 Providing real-time information regarding the number of traders due at each market and 

therefore supporting safe layouts; 

 Enabling layouts to flex and grow with the number of traders due and thereby reduce 

the need to move markets where not required if numbers are steady; 

 Enabling one way systems for safe pedestrian traffic around the markets with clear 

signage to support customers and visitors; 

 Reducing the risk of close proximity working when erecting and dismantling stalls; 

 Potentially providing savings to SHDC; 

 Enabling savings to be passed to traders by reducing pitch fees to those in Spalding no 

longer using the SHDC stalls; 

 Creating an equal service for all markets where no market receives trade waste 

collections; 

 Supporting traders to return with a period of rent free pitch hire to the end of July whilst 

consumer confidence grows; 

Page 39



 Providing an improved cleaning regime for the toilets in a Covid environment without 

the need for additional staffing costs. 

 

4.3 All of these changes will be reflected in the policy handbook which will be updated to further 

support current and new traders. 

 

5) IMPLICATIONS 

 

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 

decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues;  

Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection; 

Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk 

Management; Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; 

Transformation Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be 

implications under one or more of these headings, these are identified below. 

 

5.1 Constitutional & Legal 

 
5.1.1 Apart from amending the Council's establishment, the issues detailed in this report are 

executive functions.   

 

5.1.2 In normal circumstances, any proposal to amend the establishment would be submitted to 

full Council for consideration, but a further full Council meeting will not be held until 

September 2020 and it is not yet known when any later meeting will be held.  In the 

circumstances, the recommendations acknowledge that any decision to amend the 

Council's establishment arising from the consultation detailed in Appendix B may be taken 

by the Chief Executive under her emergency delegated powers at paragraph 6 of Part 3 

Section F2 of the Constitution. 

 

5.1.3 The Council's market rights are contained in a conveyance to the former Spalding Town 

Commissioners dated 19 January 1876. They allow for the market to stand as it does 

currently in Market Place and Hall Place and gives provision for Sheep Market to be used.   

 

5.1.4 It is considered that the Victoria Street car park does not come within the area of the 

Council's existing market rights, and another vehicle must be used in order to establish 

markets on the car park, should that be necessary. Therefore, it is proposed that a statutory 

market may be that vehicle. An additional statutory markets will not affect the Council's 

existing market rights, should it be required. 

 

5.1.5 The Council's off-street car parking places order makes provision for the Council to close all 

or parts of its car parks as appropriate which will enable the markets to be held on the car 

park.  

 

5.2 Corporate Priorities 

 

5.2.1 By making these changes, we are looking to support our local economy, traders and 

businesses and therefore achieve our corporate aim to ‘Support Spalding and Holbeach to 

be attractive places that people want to visit, live and work while supporting all other towns 

and villages in the district to meet the needs of their communities.’  

 

5.3 Financial 

Page 40



 

5.3.1 The impact of Covid nationally has been unprecedented both socially and economically. 

The same is true for the impact to SHDC, but the need to re-open our markets ‘Covid safe’ 

is clear and vital to the recovery of our economy. Therefore the proposals in this report are 

looking at both how we can safely re-open and also the cost impacts of doing so. 

 

5.3.2 Many of the proposals do not come with additional cost implications, an example of this is 

the proposed toilet re-openings which come with enhanced cleaning but due to the 

proposed changes to opening hours, can be sustained in current staffing levels. 

 

5.3.3 The introduction of a book and pay system will have a financial impact. In the interim a free 

online web form is being created to support the requirement for SHDC to understand trader 

numbers, but whilst pitch rents are free until the end of July, a payment system is not 

required. We continue to appraise options for a more permanent book and pay solution that 

will support markets but also other areas of the council that have the requirements of such 

a system to enable digital working. Further to this, the procurement of such a system will 

likely lead to efficiencies in current practices, such as the time taken handling money and 

also audit recommendations regarding the safety of this practice. 

 

5.3.4 There are financial implications to the proposal to suspend the provision of the market stalls 

in Spalding. Further detail regarding this is provided in Appendix B. Should the resulting 

decision be to cease this provision, it is a recommendation that the fees for traders be 

reviewed in line with the removal of a service and benchmarking that has been undertaken. 

The financial implications of this are considered in line with any savings that may be 

available following the change in service provision. 

 

5.3.5 There is a recommendation to support traders with free pitch rent until the end of July 2020. 

This is considered appropriate to support the return of traders following many weeks being 

unable to trade, and in some cases being unable to acquire normal levels of stock. 

Alongside this, footfall may be lower than previously and SHDC would like to support 

traders as we work to build confidence in our towns and markets post lock-down. 

 

5.3.6 The recommendation to cease collection of trade waste at all markets will see a saving for 

SHDC. Last year the costs for disposal alone was in excess of £3,000 and the coming year 

we were due to see an increase in that cost of 10% due to increases to LCC charges. In 

addition to this, we see staffing and vehicle costs for the collection of this waste which 

means that the cessation of this trade waste collection will save SHDC around £11,000 for 

2020/21 and ensure all markets receive the same level of service regarding trade waste 

removal. 

 

5.4 Reputation 

 

5.4.1 The proposals take into consideration the needs of the local economy and our traders and 

the safety of our residents, traders and visitors to the towns, whilst weighing up the financial 

burdens to the council and its tax payers. Without these changes, the markets would not be 

in a position to re-open in the current climate. This would have a negative impact on the 

reputation of the council. 

 

5.4.2 During this process we have worked to engage with traders as much as possible, with calls 

directly to them about the potential need for change to make the markets safe to re-open. 

We have made amendments to original proposals based on feedback and will continue to 

Page 41



alter alongside changes to government guidance and increases to traders and footfall traffic 

that may impede the social distancing requirements. 

 

5.4.3 This willingness to listen, observe and alter plans for the benefit of all should further support 

the reputation of the council and our desire to ‘Support Spalding and Holbeach to be 

attractive places that people want to visit, live and work while supporting all other towns 

and villages in the district to meet the needs of their communities.’   

 

5.5 Risk Management 

 

5.5.1 Consideration has been given to the risk surrounding the re-opening versus the remained 

closure of the markets. There are risks attached to both but the risk of re-opening is 

considered mitigated through the changes that are proposed in this report.  

 

5.5.2 By ensuring that government guidance is adhered to, social distancing is established 

throughout all markets and supported with signage to assist all those in the markets vicinity, 

it is considered that the risks are mitigated to allow re-opening. Risk assessments have 

been reviewed as part of this.    

 

5.6 Staffing 

 

5.6.1 The recommendations will have an impact on staffing. Mainly the recommendation 

regarding the suspension of the market stall provision. Further detail regarding this is 

available in Appendix B. 

 

5.6.2 The re-opening of the toilets has impacted staffing tasks with a focus being placed on 

regular cleaning. This will mean that tasks will be re-focussed to enable staff the time to 

undertake this enhanced cleaning regime and some staff have agreed to alter working 

hours to assist with cleaning during busy periods. 

 

5.6.3 The proposals will also change the work undertaken by the staff supporting traders, namely 

the markets officer. Currently with Covid implications there has been an ongoing impact to 

this role. Therefore to implement this report, we will need to sufficiently staff this role in the 

current climate. 

 

5.6.4 The recommendation to terminate the collection of trade waste will also impact those staff 

that undertake this task. Currently this work is completed in an overtime capacity and is 

paid as such. The termination of this service will therefore cease payment of overtime to 

these members of staff. We intend to give notice to those staff that this work, and therefore 

the payments, will cease. 

 

5.7 Stakeholders / Constitution / Timescales 

 

5.7.1 Contact with traders has been undertaken in order to consult them about potential changes 

that would need to be made to enable to safe re-opening of the market. The original 

proposals were shaped following feedback from traders. Subsequent feedback has further 

altered the proposals that we bring forward in this report. This has been done with ongoing 

discussions with the market representative. 

 

5.7.2 For Long Sutton, currently there is no consensus on how we can safely and legally re-open 

the market as, following discussions with Highways, there would not be a favourable 

Page 42



outcome to a request for a road closure. Therefore timescales for this market re-opening 

are not currently known. 

 

6) WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 

 

6.1 All 

 

7) ACRONYMS 

 

7.1 SHDC – South Holland District Council 

7.2 NABMA – National Association of British Markets 

7.3 LCC – Lincolnshire County Council 

 

Background papers:- None 

 

Lead Contact Officer 

Name and Post: Charlotte Paine Environmental Services Manager 

Telephone Number 01775 764888 

Email: cpaine@sholland.gov.uk 

 

Key Decision: Y  

 

Exempt Decision: Y  

 

This report refers to a Discretionary Service  

 

Appendices attached to this report:  

Appendix A Market Options 

Appendix B Stall Provisions (EXEMPT) 

 

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A 

DRAFT LAYOUT FOR SPALDING MARKET 

Potential layout for Tuesday 16th June Market. Not confirmed currently 

 

P
age 45



 

Potential layout for Tuesday 16th June Market. Not confirmed currently 

 

P
age 46



Document is Restricted

Page 47

Agenda Item 12.
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2. Minutes
	7. COVID-19 Briefing
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C
	Appendix D

	8. Financial Implications of Covid-19
	Appendix A

	9. Re-opening of South Holland's markets, and Spalding market stall provision
	Appendix A for Re-Opening of Markets and Spalding Market Stall Provision

	12. Re-opening of South Holland's markets, and Spalding market stall provision



